
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 
CITIZENS FOR RESPONSIBILITY AND  ) 
ETHICS IN WASHINGTON,   ) 
       ) 
  Plaintiff,    ) 
       ) 
 v.      ) Case No. 1:19-cv-3544 (APM) 
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF   ) 
HOMELAND SECURITY,    ) 
       ) 
  Defendant.    ) 
 

PLAINTIFF’S MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN OPPOSITION 
TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT  

 
Factual Background 

 On January 8, 2016, the Department of Homeland Security announced the creation of a 

Countering Violent Extremism (CVE) Task Force. This interagency effort was intended to 

marshal the resources of the federal government to combat domestic violence extremism of all 

kinds.  Secretary Jeh Johnson described its purpose: 

Countering violent extremism has become a homeland security imperative, . . . At the 
Department of Homeland Security, our Office for Community Partnerships – which I 
established last year to take the Department’s CVE efforts to the next level – has been 
working to build relationships and promote trust with communities across the country, 
and to find innovative ways to support those who seek to discourage violent extremism 
and undercut terrorist narratives. The interagency CVE Task Force that we are 
announcing today, and which will be hosted by the Department of Homeland Security, 
will bring together the best resources and personnel from across the executive branch to 
ensure that we face the challenge of violent extremism in a unified and coordinated 
way.1  

 

 
1 Dep’t of Homeland Security, Countering Violent Extremism (Jan. 8, 2016), 
https://www.dhs.gov/news/2016/01/08/countering-violent-extremism-task-force. 
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On July 6, 2016, the Department of Homeland Security announced that, pursuant to a 

Congressional appropriation, it would award $10,000,000 of grants through its CVE Grant 

Program.2  The purpose of that grant program was to: 

develop and expand efforts at the community level to counter violent extremist 
recruitment and radicalization to violence. The Program provides funding for activities 
that enhance the resilience of communities being targeted by violent extremists, provide 
alternatives to individuals who have started down a road to violent extremism, and create 
or amplify alternative messages to terrorist/violent extremist recruitment and 
radicalization efforts. It also seeks to develop and support efforts that counter violent 
extremists’ online recruitment efforts.3 
 

On October 28, 2016, DHS issued a Security Strategy for Countering Violent Extremism.4  

Providing grants was one part of that Security Strategy.5   

On January 13, 2017, a week before the end of the Obama Administration, Secretary 

Johnson announced the CVE grantees.6  Those grantees included two organizations dedicated to 

combatting white nationalist extremism: Life After Hate and the University of North Carolina 

(UNC) at Chapel Hill.7  Life After Hate is an organization founded by former white supremacists 

 
2 Dep’t of Homeland Security, Fact Sheet: FY 2016 Countering Violent Extremism (CVE) 
Grants (July 6, 2016), https://www.dhs.gov/news/2016/07/06/fy-2016-countering-violent-
extremism-cve-grants. 
3  Id. 
4 Dep’t of Homeland Security, Department Of Homeland Security Strategy For Countering 
Violent Extremism (Oct. 28, 2016), 
https://www.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/publications/16_1028_S1_CVE_strategy.pdf. 
5 Id. at 1. 
6 Dep’t of Homeland Security, Statement by Secretary Jeh Johnson Announcing First Round of 
DHS's Countering Violent Extremism (Jan. 13, 2017),  
https://www.dhs.gov/news/2017/01/13/statement-secretary-jeh-johnson-announcing-first-round-
dhss-countering-violent. 
7  Id. 
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who have renounced their views and work to help others do the same.8  UNC was awarded a 

grant to counter jihadist and white supremacist recruiting.9  

After the Trump Administration took office in January 2017, then-Secretary of Homeland 

Security John Kelly ordered a review of the CVE Task Force10 and froze the grant awards made 

by DHS for further review.11  The emerging view of the Trump Administration was that the CVE 

efforts, including CVE grants, should focus on Islamic extremism and exclude white nationalist 

extremism from their scope.12  Because they came at the very beginning of the Trump 

 
8 Life After Hate, https://www.lifeafterhate.org/team; Zaid Jilani, This Group Has Successfully 
Converted White Supremacists Using Compassion. Trump Defunded It., THE INTERCEPT (Aug. 
17, 2017, 10:16 AM), https://theintercept.com/2017/08/17/this-group-has-successfully-
converted-white-supremacists-using-compassion-trump-defunded-it/. 
9 Melanie Zanona, Trump cuts funds to fight anti-right wing violence, THE HILL (Aug. 14, 2017, 
6:35 PM), https://thehill.com/policy/national-security/346552-trump-cut-funds-to-fight-anti-
right-wing-violence. 
10 Jessica Schulberg, Controversial Trump Aide Katharine Gorka Helped End Funding For 
Group That Fights White Supremacy, HUFFINGTON POST (Aug. 15, 2017, 8:34 AM), 
https://www.huffpost.com/entry/katharine-gorka-life-after-hate_n_59921356e4b09096429943b6; 
Josh Rogin, Trump’s plan for dealing with domestic terror is missing in action, WASHINGTON 
POST (Nov. 12, 2017), https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/global-opinions/trumps-plan-
for-dealing-with-domestic-terror-is-missing-in-action/2017/11/12/d8f7eb2c-c65d-11e7-afe9-
4f60b5a6c4a0_story.html. In Secretary Kelly’s confirmation hearing questionnaire, he wrote, 
“My assessment is that we need effective programs that stop terrorists before they attack. Should 
I be confirmed, assessing these programs and their effectiveness will be a top counterterrorism 
priority. We need programs that effectively contribute to defeating the top terrorist threat of 
radical Islamic terrorism.” Hearing on the Nomination of General John F. Kelly to be Secretary, 
Department of Homeland Security Before the S. Comm. on Homeland Sec. & Governmental 
Affairs, 115th Cong. 38-39 (2017) (pre-hearing questionnaire of Gen. John F. Kelly, Nominee, 
Sec’y, Dep’t of Homeland Sec.), http://www.hsgac.senate.gov/download/kelly-pre-hearing-
questions. 
11  See also John Hudson, The Gorka That Matters Isn’t Leaving The Trump Administration, 
BUZZFEED NEWS (Aug. 29, 2017, 3:41 PM), 
https://www.buzzfeednews.com/article/johnhudson/the-gorka-that-matters-isnt-leaving-the-
trump-administration; Melanie Zanona, supra note 9. 
12 Julia Edwards Ainsley et al., Exclusive: Trump to focus counter-extremism program solely on 
Islam – sources, REUTERS (Feb. 1, 2017, 6:17 PM), https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-
trump-extremists-program-exclusiv/exclusive-trump-to-focus-counter-extremism-program-
solely-on-islam-sources-idUSKBN15G5VO. 
 

Case 1:19-cv-03544-APM   Document 18   Filed 08/28/20   Page 3 of 30

about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank


 
 

4 

Administration, the reviews of the CVE Task Force and of the CVE grants were of obvious 

importance.     

A key participant in those reviews, Katharine Gorka, advocated for a narrowing of the 

Task Force’s mission.13  She preferred that it focus on domestic Islamic extremism and set aside 

its attention on violent white nationalism.14  At least as to the grants, the Gorka position 

prevailed and the two organizations committed to the fight against white nationalism, Life After 

Hate and UNC, were defunded.15  Not long afterwards, the nation witnessed the violence of 

domestic white extremists during the August 11-12, 2017 “Unite the Right” rally in 

Charlottesville, Virginia.  

 On August 18, 2017, Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington (CREW) filed 

a four-part FOIA request with the Department of Homeland Security. It requested: 

(1) Copies of all calendars and/or other records from January 20, 2017 to the present 
reflecting meetings Katharine Gorka had, [sic] currently Adviser to the Department of 
Homeland Security’s Office of Policy, and formerly Adviser to the DHS Chief of 
Staff’s Office; 
 

(2) Documents reflecting the responsibilities and duties of Ms. Gorka, both in her current 
role as Adviser to the DHS Office of Policy, and in her previous role as Adviser to the 
DHS Chief of Staff’s Office; 

 
(3) All communications from January 20, 2017 to the present between Ms. Gorka and 

George Selim, former DHS Director of the Office for Community Partnerships, 
and/or his then-deputy David Gersten; and 

 

 
13 Jessica Schulberg, supra note 10; Josh Rogin, supra note 10.  
14 Id.; see also Peter Beinart, Trump Shut Programs to Counter Violent Extremism, THE 
ATLANTIC (Oct. 29, 2018), https://www.theatlantic.com/ideas/archive/2018/10/trump-shut-
countering-violent-extremism-program/574237/. 
15 Dep’t of Homeland Security, DHS Countering Violent Extremism Grants (March 27, 2020), 
https://www.dhs.gov/cvegrants; Melissa Quinn, Trump aide Katharine Gorka urged DHS to pull 
grant for group fighting white supremacy: Report, WASHINGTON EXAMINER (Aug. 15, 2017, 
11:55 AM), https://www.washingtonexaminer.com/trump-aide-katharine-gorka-urged-dhs-to-
pull-grant-for-group-fighting-white-supremacy-report; Jessica Schulberg, supra note 10. 
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(4) Documents reflecting DHS’ 2017 review of the Countering Violent Extremism 
(CVE) program, ordered by then-DHS Secretary John Kelly in January, as well as 
any other documents reflecting the decision to revoke the CVE grant funding from 
the nonprofit organization, Life After Hate, and from the University of North 
Carolina at Chapel Hill. 

 
Declaration of James V.M.L. Holzer (hereinafter “Holzer Decl.”) ¶ 7, Exh. A. That day, DHS 

acknowledged receipt of the request and conditionally granted CREW’s fee waiver.  Holzer 

Decl. ¶ 8.  Then, nothing happened for nearly two years. 

 As later corrected, by letter dated June 23, 2019, DHS told CREW that it had located 695 

pages of responsive records, of which it would release eight full pages and 687 pages with 

redactions.  Holzer Decl. ¶ 14, Exh. B. Mr. Holzer states that this release covered Requests 2, 3, 

and 4.  Id. at ¶ 17.  In reality, pages 276-687 of the 2019 production included calendar entries 

requested in Request 1.  On September 20, 2019, CREW filed an administrative appeal that was 

not decided prior to the filing of this lawsuit.  Id. at ¶ 15.  On April 1, 2020, DHS produced an 

additional 370 pages of records in response to Request 1, 99 in full and 271 in redacted form.  Id. 

at ¶ 17; Exh. C.  On July 17, 2020, DHS notified CREW that it had sent six pages of records to 

other agencies for consultation.  A supplemental release, with redactions, followed.  Id. at ¶ 18; 

Exh. D. 

ARGUMENT 

I. DHS’S REVIEW OF RESPONSIVE RECORDS WAS INADEQUATE. 

A. DHS Ignored CREW’s Request for Documents Related to the Kelly Review 
of the CVE Program. 
 

CREW’s Request 4 asked for two separate categories of records: 1) documents reflecting 

DHS’ 2017 review of the CVE program ordered by Secretary Kelly and 2) documents reflecting 

the decision to revoke CVE grant funding from Life After Hate and from UNC Chapel Hill.   As 

DHS’s brief and supporting declaration make clear, DHS’s search simply overlooked the first 

Case 1:19-cv-03544-APM   Document 18   Filed 08/28/20   Page 5 of 30



 
 

6 

request.   

 DHS believes that CREW has challenged the adequacy of its search because final records 

“concerning a decision to not go forward with awards to two grantees who previously had been 

named” were not found.  Def.’s Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. (“Def.’s Mem.”) at 2; see also 

Def.’s Mem. at 4 (“Plaintiff has now brought this suit in part based on its dissatisfaction that 

DHS’ search did not uncover a formal memo memorializing reasons for not effectuating the 

grants.”).  Not so.  DHS’s adequacy of search defense and supporting declaration reimagine 

CREW’s request as what it wished it were, rather than what it clearly requested.  Urban Air 

Initiative, Inc. v. Envtl. Prot. Agency, 271 F. Supp. 3d 241, 255-56 (D.D.C. 2017) (quoting 

Miller v. Casey, 730 F.2d 773, 777 (D.C. Cir. 1984)). 

  According to Mr. Holzer, DHS tasked the Office of the Chief Information Officer 

(OCIO) to search for documents responsive to Request 4.  Holzer Decl. ¶ 11.  In order to do that 

search, OCIO checked the e-mail accounts of 24 employees of the offices “involved with the 

CVE grants.”  Id.  Those offices were the Office of Public Engagement (“OPE”) and the Office 

of Community Partnerships (“OCP”).  Id.   OCIO used a “date range of January 20, 2017 to 

August 18, 2017 and the search terms (and variations thereof) ‘Life After Hate’ and ‘Univ. North 

Carolina at Chapel Hill.’”  Id.  Mr. Holzer further explained why the e-mail accounts of only 

these 24 employees warranted review and why only e-mail accounts were searched rather than 

shared desktop drives.  Id.  Thus, the search for documents responsive to Request 4 was 

narrowed in two important respects: 1) only the e-mail accounts of the 24 employees of OPE and 

OCP were searched, and 2) within those e-mails, only the key words “Life After Hate” and 

“UNC Chapel Hill” were searched. 

A careful review of Mr. Holzer’s declaration and, in particular, Paragraph 11, make it 

Case 1:19-cv-03544-APM   Document 18   Filed 08/28/20   Page 6 of 30



 
 

7 

plain why DHS did not appear to respond to the first part of CREW’s Request 4 – for documents 

reflecting the Kelly review of the CVE program.  It ignored that request altogether.  Instead, it 

expressly focused only on the second part, relating to the grants, and narrowed it to the e-mails 

of staff-level employees.   

DHS is quite right that it is required to look to the “reasonable description of the records 

sought” and to determine “precisely” what records are requested.  Def’s Mem. at 7.  CREW’s 

four-line Request 4, however, was extremely clear.  DHS violated the FOIA by simply 

overlooking one of the categories of documents requested in it.  Public Emples. for Envtl. 

Responsibility v. United States Int'l Boundary & Water Comm'n, 842 F. Supp. 2d 219, 225 

(D.D.C. 2012) (search was inadequate when agency impermissibly interpreted request too 

narrowly); Charles v. Office of the Armed Forces Med. Exam'r, 730 F. Supp. 2d 205, 216 

(D.D.C. 2010) (search was inadequate when agency imposed unilateral limitations on request in 

defiance of command that requests be construed liberally). 

 The D.C. Circuit has made it clear that for an agency to prevail on a summary judgment 

motion regarding the adequacy of a search, the agency must “demonstrate beyond material doubt 

that its search was ‘reasonably calculated to uncover all relevant documents.’”  Nation Magazine 

v. United States Customs Serv., 71 F.3d 885, 890 (D.C. Cir. 1995) (citations omitted).  This 

Court has held on several occasions that any doubt regarding the adequacy of a search must be 

resolved in favor of the requestor.  Goldstein v. IRS, 279 F. Supp. 3d 170, 188 (D.D.C. 2019) 

(Mehta, J.); see also Charles, 730 F.Supp.2d at 216-17; Negley v. FBI, 658 F. Supp. 2d 50, 59 

(D.D.C. 2009).   Here, the court does not need to parse and interpret CREW’s request to assess 

the adequacy of the search.  It is plain that it was simply not done.  As the D.C. Circuit has held, 

“if a review of the record raises substantial doubt, particularly in view of ‘well defined requests 
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and positive indications of overlooked materials,’ summary judgment is inappropriate.”  

Valencia-Lucena v. United States Coast Guard, FOIA/PA Records Mgmt., 180 F.3d 321, 326 

(D.C. Cir. 1999) (citing Founding Church of Scientology v. National Sec. Agency, 610 F.2d 824, 

837 (D.C. Cir. 1979)); see also Pulliam v. United States EPA, 235 F. Supp. 3d 179, 188 (D.D.C. 

2017) (agencies may not narrow scope of a FOIA request to exclude materials reasonably within 

the request) (citing LaCedra v. Exec. Office for U.S. Attorneys, 317 F.3d 345, 348, (D.C. Cir. 

2003) (concluding that the agency's interpretation of the request “reads the just-quoted phrase out 

of the letter” in a manner that renders the agency's interpretation “simply implausible”)).  Such is 

the case here.  

 The reason for DHS’s oversight is plain.  Mr. Holzer explains that DHS received several 

FOIA requests on the CVE program.  Holzer Decl. ¶ 11.  As a result, his office worked closely 

with relevant DHS staff and identified the 24 people “involved with the CVS grants process.”  

Id. (emphasis added).  CREW’s request was broader, yet DHS ignored those differences.  See 

Brennan Ctr. for Justice at N.Y. Univ. Sch. of Law v. United States DOJ, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

51539 at *18 (D.D.C. March 25, 2020) (“The Court finds first that DOJ's search was inadequate 

because it did not tailor the search terms to plaintiff's specific request but simply piggy-backed 

on work that was already done in a somewhat related area.”)  As a result, this Court should deny 

DHS’s motion for summary judgment and order it to promptly perform a thorough search for 

records related to the Kelly review of the CVE program. 

B. DHS Improperly Failed to Search for CVE Grant Records Beyond OPE and 
OPC. 
 

Aside from DHS’s failure to search for records relating to the general review of the CVE 

Task Force, DHS’s search for records about the particular CVE grant review was also 

inadequate.  As shown above, that search was confined only to 24 staff employees in the OPE 
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and OPC offices.  Based on material DHS disclosed in response to CREW’s FOIA request, 

however, it is indisputable that Secretary Kelly made the June 2017 grant funding (or defunding) 

decision.  Naturally, when the Secretary is the decisionmaker, there is a long line of employees 

and officials between staff and the Secretary who usher that decision-making process forward.  

DHS, however, searched for no e-mails or other records associated with those beyond the staff 

offices.   See Holzer Decl. ¶ 11 (describing the 24 as “agency staff members”). 

The press release announcing the new grantees on June 23, 2017 includes a statement 

from Secretary Kelly himself which states that he ordered a review of the grant making process: 

“We are witnessing a global surge in terrorist activity, and in many ways our own 
backyard has become the battleground,” said Secretary of Homeland Security John F. 
Kelly. “That is why DHS is focused on stepping up efforts to counter terrorist recruitment 
and radicalization, including through close collaboration with state and local partners. 
Shortly, after starting at DHS, I requested a thorough policy review of the CVE Grant 
Program to ensure taxpayer dollars go to programs with the highest likelihood of success, 
that support the men and women on the front lines of this fight, and that can be self-
sustaining into the future. We will closely monitor these efforts to identify and amplify 
promising approaches to prevent terrorism.”16 

 
It is clear that the final grant awards were made and reviewed at the very highest levels of the 

Department.   

Ms. Gorka’s calendar entries showed a March 8, 2017 meeting entitled “CVE Grants 

Meeting” with a list of attendees that included the Secretary, Acting Deputy Secretary, Chief of 

Staff Kirstjen Nielsen, Deputy Chief of Staff Alan Meltzer, Katie Gorka, John Barsa, and others.  

DHS-001-3544-000019.  (Numbered pages are attached as Exhibit 1 of the Declaration of Jeffrey 

S. Gutman).  A follow-up to that meeting occurred on March 22, 2017 and also included the 

Secretary, Acting Deputy Secretary, Chief of Staff Nielsen, Katie Gorka, and John Barsa. DHS-

 
16 Dep’t of Homeland Security, DHS Awards Grants to Counter Terrorist Recruitment and 
Radicalization in U.S. (June 23, 2017), https://www.dhs.gov/news/2017/06/23/dhs-awards-
grants-counter-terrorist-recruitment-and-radicalization-us. 

Case 1:19-cv-03544-APM   Document 18   Filed 08/28/20   Page 9 of 30

about:blank
about:blank


 
 

10 

001-3544-000023.  The next day, Ms. Nielsen invited participants for an informal meeting to 

further discuss the grants in light of “S1’s input.”  DHS-001-3544-000024.  See also DHS-001-

3544-000025 (March 28 invitation for another meeting to present option memo to S1).  S1 

appears to be the Secretary. Further meetings on CVE grants with the Secretary occurred on May 

19, 2020 and May 23, 2020.  DHS-001-3544-000047, 48.  On June 6, a Counselor to the 

Secretary stated that “I believe we now have S1 guidance on a decision.”  DHS-001-3544-

000053. 

The Gorka e-mails confirm that the Secretary made the grants decision.  For example, in 

an e-mail chain mentioning Life After Hate, Ms. Gorka says, “I think the memo should reflect 

that consensus, but I would like the pros and cons to be listed as well just so Sec. Kelly is clear 

on what may be coming down the road.”  DHS Rec. 18.  Earlier in that e-mail chain, John Barsa 

highlights the Secretary’s role as the decision-maker: “I’m not sure of the mechanics of how the 

Secretary chooses one option over another but that is a minor technical point.” Id. George Selim, 

the Director of Office for Community Partnerships, e-mailed Ms. Gorka and Mr. Barsa that, “I 

did my best to faithfully alert the Secretary to all the concerns raised . . .” DHS Rec. 71.17   

If that were not enough, DHS redacted a document entitled, “Secretary’s Decision Paper 

Countering Violent Extremism Grant Program: Award Processing,” Id. at 42-49, sent by an 

official whose name was redacted but whose title was “Counselor, Office of the Secretary, 

 
17 See DHS Rec. 78 (redacted employee outlining “views for the leadership and move the issues 
forward to COS and DCOS.” This is presumably the Chief of Staff and Deputy Chief of Staff; id. 
110 ( David Gersten telling Mr. Barsa and Ms. Gorka, “We understood that this memo would be 
shared with you as it was sent to the Front Office.  Sorry to hear that didn’t happen.”); id. 192 
(Front Office has questions on briefing memo on grant metrics); id. 193 (materials on grant 
metrics must be submitted 48 hours in advance to allow for front office counsel review and 
delivery to the Chief of Staff’s office); id. 216-17 (unnamed Counselor in the Office of the 
Secretary asks for version of document in an email called “CVE outline for S1); id. 226-27 
(Counselor asks for grant memo). 
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Department of Homeland Security.”18  A deliverable requested on February 12, 2017 was a 

public statement by the Secretary on CVE.  Id. at 80.19  On February 7, 2017, Mr. Selim sent to 

Deputy Chief of Staff Metzler a “decision memo attached for Secretary Kelly on the CVE grant 

program.” Id. at 233.20  On March 29, 2017, Miles Taylor, of the Office of the Secretary, 

circulated a “draft memo for S1 regarding the consensus recommendation that we discussed at 

yesterday’s CVEGP follow-on meeting.” Id. at 265-67.21 

Indeed, high-ranking DHS employees were referred to in e-mails in which Ms. Gorka 

was included and appear to relate to the CVE program or grant review.  See id. at 53 (DCOS 

Metzler wants a meeting to discuss the CVE memo); id. at 56 (Principal Deputy Undersecretary 

David Grannis); id. at 245 (Metzler).  According to Ms. Gorka’s e-mail and calendar records, she 

(often with John Barsa) attended meetings with high-level DHS officials, including the 

Secretary, about CVE matters, and possibly the CVE grants, on several occasions. DHS Rec. 5, 

13, 50, 53, 90, 123, 188, 193, 195, 265-66; DHS Rec. 268 (meeting with Secretary to discuss 

CVE on March 28, 2017); DHS Rec. 648 (discussing meeting with Secretary).    

 If, as here, “positive indications of overlooked materials” exist in the record, then a court 

may conclude that the search conducted by the agency was inadequate. See Valencia-Lucena, 

180 F.3d at 327 (quoting Founding Church of Scientology, Inc. v. Nat'l Sec. Agency, 610 F.2d 

 
18 The Vaughn Index at 4 describes this record as including “withheld paragraphs [of] internal 
DHS deliberations between senior leaders regarding the content of a working draft memo 
regarding CVE grant funding.” 
19 The Vaughn Index at 5 describes this email chain as “regarding the draft position of the 
secretary as to CVE grants to be circulated for review and comment.” 
20 As discussed below, the attached memo apparently was not reviewed.  See also DHS Rec. 251-
52 (redacted memo in email from unnamed Counselor to the Office of the Secretary for flash 
clearance of memo to be sent to S1).  The Vaughn Index referred to this as an email chain 
between “DHS senior leaders”). Vaughn Index at 12.  
21 The Vaughn Index also referred to this as an e-mail chain between “DHS senior leaders.”  
Vaughn Index at 12. 
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824, 837 (D.C. Cir. 1979)).  In Valencia-Lucena, the Coast Guard did not search other offices 

within its divisions that it knew contained responsive records. Id. The court held that the Coast 

Guard’s failure to search those offices called into question the adequacy of its search since “[i]t 

is well-settled that if an agency has reason to know that certain places may contain responsive 

documents, it is obligated under FOIA to search barring an undue burden.” Id.  

That same conclusion applies here. Despite knowing that individuals beyond the 24 staff 

office employees, up to and including the Secretary, may have records responsive to Request 4, 

DHS inexplicably did not review their e-mail accounts or other records, instead narrowing the 

scope to the 24 staff employees of the OPE and the OCP.  Thus, DHS’s motion for summary 

judgment should be denied.  DHS should be required to search for documents related to the CVE 

grants in offices beyond the OCP and OPE. 

C. DHS Failed to Review or Disclose E-Mail Attachments. 

 Mr. Holzer explained that, in searching for responsive records related to Requests and 3 

and 4, DHS “OCIO KMD is able to conduct back-end searches of all DHS Headquarters email 

accounts using a journaling server or similar email storage system that captures and stores every 

email sent or received by any DHS Headquarters email account.”  Holzer Decl. ¶ 10.  With 

respect to Request 3, DHS searched the email accounts for Gorka, Selim, and Gersten. Id. ¶ 11.  

With respect to Request 4, it searched the email accounts for 24 unnamed DHS employees in the 

staff offices involved with CVE grants.  Id.  And, it searched only e-mail accounts.  Id. 

The reason DHS searched only email accounts is because “at DHS documents are sent 

electronically via email, and thus documents and communications about them are captured by the 

central email system.”  Id.  It stands to reason that, when teams of DHS employees are tasked 

with reviewing an important DHS program like the CVE Task Force, or with considering 
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millions of dollars of grant funding, they will share their documents through e-mail attachments.  

Mr. Holzer asserts that “DHS considers each email and each attachment to be separate records.”  

Id. ¶ 13.  Responsive attachments “deemed to be responsive after the initial review will be 

transferred to the processing side of the application along with the parent email, and the 

parent/child relationship will still be maintained.”  Id. 

DHS, however, did not maintain that parent/child relationship.  Table 1 of the Declaration 

of Jeffrey S. Gutman is a listing, by page number, of the DHS production in which there is an 

explicit reference to an attached document. There are 81 such references.  In 68 of them, no 

attached document is released in whole, in part, or entirely redacted. Gutman Decl. ¶ 6. It is not 

clear whether DHS simply did not process the attached document, or that it did and withheld it in 

its entirety without paginating it, disclosing a fully redacted document, and adding it to the 

Vaughn index.     

 In either event, e-mail attachments cannot simply be ignored.  As this court has held, 

“attachments should reasonably be considered part and parcel of the email by which they were 

sent [if the emails] . . . make explicit reference to, or include discussion of, the [] attachments.” 

Coffey v. Bureau of Land Mgmt., 277 F. Supp. 3d 1, 8 (D.D.C. 2017). Here, it is clear that a fair 

reading of the CREW request encompassed e-mail attachments.  See PETA v. Nat'l Institutes of 

Health, Dep't of Health & Human Servs., 745 F.3d 535, 540 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (citing Nation 

Magazine v. U.S. Customs Serv., 71 F.3d 885, 890 (D.C. Cir. 1995)) (the agency has a “duty to 

construe a FOIA request liberally.”). Request 3 sought all “communications” and Request 4 

sought all “documents.”  Indeed, DHS understood that e-mail attachments were incorporated in 

CREW’s request because on some occasions, such attachments were processed. Gutman Decl. 

Table 1. DHS simply failed to process the remainder and that failure violated its obligations 
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under the FOIA.  Judge Rotenberg Educ. Ctr., Inc. v. U.S. Food & Drug Admin., 376 F. Supp. 3d 

47, 61-62 (D.D.C. 2019) (describing that agency’s search for “any and all [responsive] records” 

as naturally encompassing both “emails (and attachments)”); Am. Oversight v. GSA, 311 F. Supp. 

3d 327, 340-41 (D.D.C. 2018) (same); Parker v. U.S. Dep't of Justice, Office of Prof'l 

Responsibility, 278 F. Supp. 3d 446, 452 (D.D.C. 2017) (same); Bagwell v. U.S. Dep't of Justice, 

No. 15-CV-0531, 311 F. Supp. 3d 223, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 46812, 2018 WL 1440177, at *1-

2 (D.D.C. Mar. 22, 2018) (same).  

D. DHS Failed to Disclose Final Press Responses. 

On June 23, 2017, DHS awarded the CVE grants.  In August of 2017, it appears that 

DHS received inquiries about the grants made and, in particular, why Life After Hate was 

defunded. Vaughn Index at 6 (pages 120-24).  DHS appears to have redacted draft answers to 

those questions.  CREW does not quarrel with that redaction.  But it does strongly suggest that 

DHS made final statements in response to the press inquiries.  Such responses would squarely be 

covered by CREW’s Request 4.  Here again, DHS’s single-minded focus on the group of 24 

employees led it to fail to make an adequate search; in this case, a search of records in the DHS 

press office related to the CVE grants would have been warranted.   

II. DHS’S ASSERTION OF THE DELIBERATIVE PROCESS PRIVILEGE WAS 
ERRONEOUS. 
 
a. The Deliberative Process Privilege Does Not Protect Documents Reviewed by 

John Barsa Prior to His Becoming a Federal Employee.  
  

FOIA Exemption 5 permits agencies to withhold “inter-agency or intra-agency 

memorandums or letters that would not be available by law to a party other than an agency in 

litigation with the agency.” 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(5).  The Supreme Court has stated that, “FOIA's 

central purpose is to ensure that the Government's activities be opened to the sharp eye of public 
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scrutiny. . .”  U.S. Dep't of Justice v. Reporters Committee For Freedom of Press, 489 U.S. 749, 

774 (1989).  As a result, exemptions to disclosure are interpreted narrowly. Milner v. U.S. Dep't 

of Navy, 562 U.S. 562, 565 (2011) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted); see 

also Murphy v. Exec. Office for U.S. Attys., 789 F.3d 204, 206 (D.C. Cir. 2015); Citizens for 

Responsibility & Ethics in Wash. (“CREW”) v. U.S. Dep't of Justice , 746 F.3d 1082, 1088 (D.C. 

Cir. 2014); Pub. Citizen, Inc. v. Office of Mgmt. & Budget, 598 F.3d 865, 869 (D.C. Cir. 2010); 

Animal Welfare Inst. v. Nat'l Oceanic & Atmospheric Admin., 370 F. Supp. 3d 116, 131-132 

(D.D.C. 2019).  Despite that, DHS has asserted that records and e-mail chains received, 

reviewed, or responded to by John Barsa, a non-governmental employee, are nevertheless subject 

to the deliberative process exemption. 

  Exemption 5 covers, as a threshold matter, intra- or inter-agency communications.  That 

is language of limitation.  To interpret it to cover all communications with the government and 

outside third parties would drain it of “independent vitality.” Dep't of Interior v. Klamath Water 

Users Protective Ass'n, 532 U.S. 1, 12 (2001).  For that reason, the government previously 

conceded that Presidential Transition Teams are not agencies.  Am. Oversight v. GSA, 311 F. 

Supp. 3d 327, 342 (D.D.C. 2018).  Therefore, this court has held that Exemption 5 does not 

cover communications between the GSA and the Trump Transition Team.  Id.  The question here 

is whether agency records shared with a particular non-governmental member of the DHS 

Transition Team must similarly be disclosed.     

The D.C. Circuit has developed a concept called the “consultant corollary,” described by 

this Court as “limited.” Climate Investigations Ctr. v. United States DOE, 331 F. Supp. 3d 1, 25 

(D.D.C. 2018) (Mehta, J.).  Under this corollary, records exchanged between an agency and 

outside consultants may qualify as “intra-agency” for purposes of Exemption 5 if (1) the agency 
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solicited the records from the non-agency party or there exists “some indicia of a consultant 

relationship between the outsider and the agency,” and (2) the records were “created for the 

purpose of aiding the agency's deliberative process.”  Judicial Watch, Inc. v. U. S. Dep't of State, 

306 F. Supp. 3d 97, 106-07 (D.D.C. 2018) (citations omitted). The rationale is that “federal 

agencies occasionally will encounter problems outside their ken, and it clearly is preferable that 

they enlist the help of outside experts skilled at unravelling their knotty complexities.”  

Formaldehyde Inst. v. Dep't of Health & Human Servs., 889 F.2d 1118, 1122, (D.C. Cir. 

1989) (quoting CNA Fin. Corp. v. Donovan, 830 F.2d 1132, 1162 (D.C. Cir. 1987)).  

 This gloss on Exemption 5 makes some policy sense.  When internal government 

resources or expertise are insufficient to tackle important problems or issues, we want the 

government to tap the wisdom and judgment of outsiders on a temporary basis without worry 

that documents they may prepare as part of the government’s deliberations on the issues would 

have to be publicly disclosed.  At the same time, this gloss cannot swallow the FOIA.  It cannot 

be the case that the corollary must always shield records shared with or by outside experts. Thus, 

there are necessary limits to the doctrine to avoid draining Exemption 5 of its independent 

vitality. 

 When defining the “consultant corollary,” the courts have used the term “outside 

consultant” to mark the type of person or entity to which it applies.  Pub. Citizen v. U.S. Dep't of 

Justice, 111 F.3d 168, 170 (D.C. Cir. 1997); 100Reporters LLC v. U.S. Dep’t of Justice, 248 F. 

Supp. 3d 115, 146 (D.D.C. 2017); Competitive Enter. Inst. v. Office of Sci. & Tech. Policy, 161 

F. Supp. 3d 120, 132 (D.D.C. 2016) (Mehta, J.).  The Supreme Court in Klamath used the term 

“independent contractor” as a similar term of limitation.  Klamath, 532 U.S. at 10. 

 Both words have independent meaning.  “Outside” denotes a person or entity separate 
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and apart from the government to whom the government agency reaches for advice and 

assistance as part of a deliberative process.  The “consultant” consults, providing advice and 

expertise as part of the agency’s deliberative process.  The consultant is not one of the 

deliberators or one with the power or authority to clear or approve aspects of that process.    

Those functions are reserved to federal officers or employees. 

 So understood, it becomes clear why members of a transition team do not fit comfortably 

in the “outside consultant” framework.  There typically are many hundreds of members of 

presidential transition teams who are not federal employees and who assist incoming 

administrations.  Their role is temporary, typically from the election to the inauguration.  

Members of transition teams often have divided interests.  Some may aspire for permanent 

government positions and see their service as an audition.  Others may wish to return to the 

private sector, leaving it uncertain whether their service could redound to their benefit or those of 

private clients or colleagues.  Yet others may be unsure what the future holds for them.   

Given the number, importance, and wide variety of roles played by transition team 

members and the courts’ duty to interpret exemptions to the FOIA narrowly, to blanketly regard 

all of them as satisfying the consultant corollary is simply wrong.  Rather, context is key and that 

is precisely what Mr. Holzer’s Declaration fails to provide.  What we do clearly know is that Mr. 

Barsa, a private citizen, was effectively embedded with DHS for months after the transition, had 

the sort of review and clearance functions entirely unlike that of an outside consultant and, 

indeed, participated in meetings with the Secretary of Homeland Security on CVE issues.  Until 

he became a federal employee, Mr. Barsa was neither fish nor fowl: he was neither a federal 

employee whose records could be encompassed by the deliberative process exemption, nor an 

outside consultant possibly covered by the “consultant corollary.”  He instead lies in a third 
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category unshielded by any D.C. Circuit precedent. 

The answer to this problem of the government’s own making is not that Mr. Barsa was an 

“insider” or tantamount to a government employee and thus is covered by the exemption.  If that 

is the government’s argument, then he cannot fall within the “consultant corollary” by definition.  

If he was not an employee, then adding him to the document flow fell outside the scope of the 

term “intra-agency.”  DHS had a choice: it could have hired Mr. Barsa when the Administration 

began, or it could have tapped his expertise as an outside arm-length independent consultant.  

But because it chose neither, and it cannot then assert that the documents he created or reviewed 

should be treated as though it had.   

Central to the application of the “consultant corollary,” which the government apparently 

urges, Def’s Mem. at 13-14 n.1, is that the government, needing advice, solicited that guidance 

from a private outside group or individual.  A foundational case in this area, Ryan v. U.S. Dep’t 

of Justice, 617 F.2d 781 (D.C. 1980), involved questionnaires sent by the Justice Department to 

Senators regarding judicial nominations.  Finding the documents covered by the deliberative 

process exemption, the D.C. Circuit emphasized that it “cannot overlook the fact that the 

documents here were generated by an initiative from the Department of Justice.”  Ryan, 617 F.2d 

at 790; see also Nat'l Inst. of Military Justice v. U.S. Dep’t of Defense, 512 F.3d 677, 680-81 

(D.C. Cir. 2008) (holding “records containing the opinions and recommendations of non-

governmental lawyers” who were advising the Department of Defense were covered by 

Exemption 5 because the documents were “submitted by non-agency parties in response to an 

agency's request for advice”). 

  The notion that the government initiated or solicited the documents from outsiders 

follows logically from the requirement that the record be created as part of the agency’s 
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deliberative process.  See Public Emples. for Envtl. Responsibility, 740 F.3d at 201 (“[T]his 

Court has also interpreted the phrase ‘intra-agency’ in Exemption 5 to go beyond the text and 

include U.S. agency records authored by non-agency entities if those records were solicited by a 

U.S. agency in the course of its deliberative process.”).  Under the consultant corollary, 

documents shared with outside parties can remain inter-agency or intra-agency records as long as 

they were shared with an outsider for the purpose of receiving neutral advice. Ctr. for Int'l Envtl. 

Law v. Office of the U.S. Trade Representatives, 237 F. Supp. 2d 17, 27 (D.D.C. 2002). 

To apply the consultant corollary here, the Court must first determine whether John Barsa 

is a non-agency party.  Mr. Barsa was not employed by DHS until May 8, 2017, according to his 

New Entrant Report Financial Disclosure. See Executive Branch Personnel, Public Financial 

Disclosure Report, Barsa, John (2017), https://www.documentcloud.org/documents/4387638-

John-Barsa-Financial-Disclosure.html. Before that date, Mr. Barsa’s e-mail footer identifies him 

merely as a member of the DHS Transition Team. Holzer Decl. ¶ 26.  Indeed, prior to May 8, 

each of the 29 e-mails he sent included a footer stating he was a member of the DHS transition 

team.  Gutman Decl. ¶ 8 and Table 3.  See, e.g. DHS Rec. 56, 201, 226, 245.  None said 

otherwise. 

Even Mr. Holzer distinguishes between Mr. Barsa’s service as a federal employee and his 

prior non-employee status:  

. . . John Barsa, was at all relevant times either a Department of Homeland Security 
employee or a member of the DHS Transition Team for the Trump Administration. . .  
 
. . . although at some times at issue in the records in question he may not yet have been a 
salaried employee of the Department, he was at all relevant times either a Department 
employee or a member of the Trump Administration’s Transition Team for the 
Department. 
 

Holzer Decl. ¶ 26.  Thus, DHS effectively abandons the notion that he was an outside consultant 
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before he became an employee.  Instead of casting him in the role of an outsider, DHS views him 

as an insider.  DHS argues that he “plainly was within the agency” because his emails were sent 

by a dhs.gov account, he was a member of the transition team, and there were no indicia that he 

was self-interested.  Def’s Mem. at 13 n.1.  None of these are dispositive of Mr. Barsa being an 

“intra-agency” party.  

Whether a person was, properly or improperly, provided a government e-mail address 

does not make one an agency employee.  Nor does or can the government offer support for the 

notion that members of the transition team are employees.  That Mr. Barsa was not self-

interested, an issue discussed below, does not make him an agency party either.    

To the extent that DHS seeks to blur his non-employee and employee roles by viewing 

him generally as an “insider,” there is a clear and easily administrable response. An individual is 

a non-agency party when that individual is not formally employed by the agency as reflected in 

official government documentation. Without employment by the government, the person is a 

“non-agency party.”   Such was Mr. Barsa’s status prior to May 8, 2017.  

The second question is whether DHS solicited records from Mr. Barsa with respect to the 

CVE Task Force and CVE Grant Program.  Mr. Holzer does not tell us whether DHS solicited 

documents from Mr. Barsa.  In fact, Mr. Holzer says nothing about the origins of the Barsa/DHS 

relationship, what Mr. Barsa was tasked with doing as a member of the Transition Team, and 

whose interests he was serving.  In the absence of such information, the Court cannot determine 

whether the deliberative process privilege can be extended to documents reviewed by Barsa. 

Bloche v. Dep't of Def., No. CV 07-2050 (RC), 2020 WL 2496897, at *5; U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

85014, at *2  (D.D.C. May 14, 2020) (agency fails to demonstrate deliberative process 

exemption applies without providing information about the context in which outside entity was 
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asked for information and the relationship between the entity and the agency).   

A review of the documents DHS disclosed, however, suggests that DHS did not in fact 

solicit documents from Mr. Barsa and that he did not view himself as an arms-length outside 

consultant either. CREW’s Request 3 asked for all communications between Ms. Gorka, Mr. 

Selim, and Mr. Gersten regarding CVE, not Mr. Barsa.  Yet, CREW learned of Mr. Barsa’s 

existence because DHS did not redact his name from their email chains.  Prior to May 8, 2017, 

Barsa was an active participant in nearly all of the e-mail chains among them.  He is listed in 70 

of the 275 pages of e-mails.  Gutman Decl. ¶ 7, Table 2.  There is no indication in those e-mails 

that he was asked to supply records memorializing his advice and recommendations to DHS.   

To the contrary, there is no indicia of a consultant relationship between DHS and Mr. 

Barsa.  He appeared to be working hand in hand with Ms. Gorka rather than an outside 

consultant.  For example, in a February 1, 2017 e-mail, Mr. Barsa asks, “Would it be possible for 

Katie and I to see any background checks or reports that were done on the NGOs that were 

among the intended CVE grant recipients?” DHS Rec. 56; see also DHS Rec. 248 (email from 

George Selim to John Barsa asking for memo to Secretary to be from John and Katie); DHS Rec. 

217 (noting places where “Katie and John” are asked to lay out review process under current 

administration). Further, the Counselor to the Secretary of Homeland Security said, “Please note 

there are two places in the document where Katie and John are asked to lay out the current 

review process undertaken under the new administration – the Background section and the grant 

program section.” Id. at 217.      

As the grant review process continued, Mr. Barsa assumed a role in which he cleared 

draft documents written by government employees.  On February 22, 2017, Mr. Selim wrote, “I 

circulated a base memo for you to start from yesterday to the team.  John Barsa cleared but I 
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don’t think we have heard from Katie.”  Id. at 180.  In response to an e-mail from Mr. Selim in 

which he asks Mr. Barsa and Ms. Gorka to review a document to be sent to Senate 

Appropriations Committee staff, in an e-mail dated February 15, 2017, titled “Hill Response,” 

Mr. Barsa states that “Katie is out of pocket for the rest of the day. I reviewed the responses.  

They seem fine to me.  Feel free to fire . . .”  Id. at 201. On February 22, 2017, an employee 

whose name is redacted refers to a memo that will need “John and Katie to affirm clearance 

tonight.” Id. at 28; see also id. at 29 (unknown employee stating, “This is my counter and John 

was on the phone and John approved.”). 

His role as a gatekeeper included objecting to documents in addition to clearing them.  

Mr. Barsa wrote in a February 7 e-mail to Mr. Selim: “If the memo is confined to security 

screening, the ‘Houston’ issue is the only one Katie and I have concerns over.  If this memo is to 

cover efficiencies, our concerns are plethora and this memo gets very complicated.”  DHS Rec. 

227.  Mr. Barsa writes in a March 3 e-mail entitled “updated CVE memo,” “I am fine with 

George’s edits as they do not seem to conflict with mine.  Generally speaking, I am not averse to 

George making a point to S1 that he was not comfortable giving S1 options while Katie and I 

were. That being said, if we are adding any new language regarding his point, I want to see it 

before I sign off on this as ‘final.’” Id. at 229-230.  See Gutman Decl. ¶ 9, Table 4 (listing pages 

reflecting Mr. Barsa’s active involvement in CVE matters). 

The e-mail communications make it quite clear that Mr. Barsa, a non-governmental 

employee, was not serving as a consultant.  His role was, at least in the CVE context, parallel to 

that of Ms. Gorka.  Both had apparent authority to direct staff, participate in document review, 

and to clear documents prior to being sent to front office officials.  And, as noted above, they 

participated in the discussions with front office officials, including the Secretary, about the CVE 
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program and grants.  See Gutman Decl. ¶ 10, Table 5. 

It is not necessary to determine the propriety of embedding non-governmental transition 

team members with government agencies and delegating to them powers and authorities 

customarily reserved for government employees.  That is, however, what DHS has done here, 

and there is a necessary consequence for that decision.  Mr. Barsa was neither an agency 

employee nor and outside consultant embraced by the “intra-agency” language of the 

deliberative process exemption.  He falls within an entirely different category altogether and one 

that falls outside the narrowly interpreted language of the exemption. 

In Klamath, the Supreme Court assumed, but did not decide, that non-governmental 

actors can create “intra-agency” records subject to Exemption 5 “if those records were solicited 

by a U.S. agency in the course of its deliberative process.” Public Employees for Envtl. 

Responsibility, 740 F.3d at 201-202. This “consultant corollary” to Exemption 5 may apply 

“when the consultant did not have its own interests in mind.” See McKinley v. Bd. of Governors 

of the Fed. Reserve System, 647 F.3d 331, 336-37 (D.C. Cir. 2011).  

Third, the court must ask whether the non-agency employees acted to advance their own 

interests or those of clients.  That is a real question in this context.  Members of a transition team 

are particularly vulnerable to conflict.  They are often neither here nor there – at least partially 

disengaged from their private sector work, and uncertain whether their service will yield a 

government job and whether they will return to private sector pursuits.  Thus, they have an 

incentive to play on both sides – to advance positions they think could be endearing to their 

potential future employer while being mindful of their own interests and those of their clients 

should they not get a government job.  

On this point, Mr. Holzer merely says that he examined the communications involving 
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Mr. Barsa and he concludes that “he was not representing either his individual, non-

governmental self-interest or the views or interests of others outside the agency, to include his 

former clients.”  Holzer ¶ 26.  This is precisely the “bald” sort of assertion rejected in 

Competitive Enter. Inst. v. Office of Sci. & Tech. Policy, 161 F. Supp. 3d 120 (D.D.C. 2016) 

(Mehta, J). 

In that case, a White House official linked the Polar Vortex to global warming.  The 

plaintiff contended that doing so was wrong and asked that the statement be corrected.  In a 

letter, the agency refused.  The plaintiff then filed a FOIA request that surfaced comments and 

edits made on a draft version of the refusal letter by a professor.  The government invoked the 

consultant corollary rule to withhold that letter and stated that the professor was not advancing 

her self-interests or seeking a government benefit. Id. at 132.  The basis for that conclusion was, 

according to this court, thin: 

Leonard [the declarant] offers no other details about the “consultancy” that Dr. Francis 
provided to Holdren. She does not explain why Holdren needed to confer with Dr. 
Francis about the OSTP Letter; to what portions of the letter Dr. Francis contributed her 
"technical science" expertise about the Polar Vortex; or to what extent Dr. Francis has 
conferred with Holdren and OSTP in the past about scientific or other issues. 
 

Id. at 133. 

 The record here is equally thin.  It is not enough that the declarant simply concluded from 

a reading of the consultant’s e-mails that he or she was not representing their own interests or 

those of their clients.  Without talking with Mr. Barsa and understanding his prior work and the 

work to which he might return were he not to be hired by the government, there is no way of 

drawing such a conclusion and there is no evidence in the record that this analysis was 

undertaken.  In Competitive Enter. Inst, the Court, in fact, rejected the government’s assertion of 

the professor’s lack of self-interest given that she was a chief proponent of the position the White 
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House official had taken. Id. at 135. The Holzer declaration similarly offers no information on 

how he reached the conclusion that did. 

 Moreover, in Competitive Enter. Inst., this Court examined the content and context of the 

consultant’s work with the government.  The Court was left uncertain why her expertise was 

actually needed.  In the absence of record evidence of her role and the government’s need that 

she serves as a reviewer of the letter, it found that the corollary did not apply and ordered the 

release of the letter.  We have the same void in the factual record here.  In the absence of a 

factual basis on which to assert the consultant corollary, the Court should deny DHS’ motion for 

summary judgment and order DHS to disclose all records created by or shared with John Barsa. 

B.  DHS Improperly Asserted the Deliberative Process Privilege. 

 The 2015 FOIA Improvement Act codified the “foreseeable harm” standard established 

administratively in 2009 by then Attorney General Holder.  Rosenberg v. U.S. Dep't of Defense, 

342 F. Supp. 3d 62, 72 (D.D.C. 2018).  The FOIA now provides that “[a]n agency shall . . . 

withhold information under this section only if . . . (I) the agency reasonably foresees that 

disclosure would harm an interest protected by an exemption described in subsection (b); or (II) 

disclosure is prohibited by law.” 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(8)(A)(i). 

 This court has held that the “foreseeable harm” requirement imposes a tougher standard 

on agencies to meet. Judicial Watch I, 375 F. Supp. 3d at 100 (the new foreseeable-harm 

requirement as a “heightened standard”); see also Center for Investigative Reporting at 106. To 

meet “this independent and meaningful burden,” id., an agency must “identify specific harms to 

the relevant protected interests that it can reasonably foresee would actually ensue from 

disclosure of the withheld materials” and “connect[] the harms in [a] meaningful way to the 

information withheld.” Judicial Watch II, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 163473. Further, agencies 

Case 1:19-cv-03544-APM   Document 18   Filed 08/28/20   Page 25 of 30



 
 

26 

“may take a categorical approach” and “group together like records,” Rosenberg, 342 F. Supp. 

3d at 78, but when doing so, the agency cannot rest on “nearly identical boilerplate statements” 

and “generic and nebulous articulations of harm.” Judicial Watch II, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

163473, at *4-5. 

 A close look at the Holzer Declaration shows that DHS has failed to satisfy each 

standard.  Most of paragraph 25, which deals with the foreseeable harm issue, merely 

summarizes the traditional rationale for the deliberative process exemption, such as diminished 

candor, reduced exchange of ideas, need for effective policymaking, and the like.  That does not 

satisfy the heightened showing required.  Reporters Comm. for Freedom of the Press v. FBI, 

2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 48925, at *25 (D.D.C. March 20, 2020) (“general assertions of harm to 

the deliberative process are sufficient to satisfy the ‘heightened standard’ of the FOIA 

Improvement Act's ‘foreseeable harm’ requirement”). 

Mr. Holzer does say that “to the extent that” the documents presented differing 

perspectives, the release could cause confusion about DHS’s actual position on these issues.  

Holzer Decl. ¶ 25.  “To the extent that” is not a statement of fact; he does not say that the records 

actually did reflect differences from the final outcome. But even if they did, no conceivable 

confusion could trouble the public’s mind.  The list of grantees is clear, objective, and public.  

There can be no confusion about who won the grants and who did not. 

 Mr. Holzer argues that because the issue here is “violent extremism,” disclosure of the 

records could lead “to harassment or even physical harm against those who took part in the 

deliberations by individuals who disagree with the Department’s mission or activities.”  Holzer 

Decl. ¶ 25. DHS’s two-year delay in responding to CREW’s request gives us a historical 

perspective with which to evaluate that assertion.  In the three years since the grants were either 
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made or withdrawn, Mr. Holzer points to no hint of such a threat of harm.   

The statutory standard is “reasonably foreseeable” not remotely fanciful.  After all, the 

CVE program and CVE grants are public knowledge, dating back to the Obama Administration.  

The names of officials involved in CVE, like Ms. Gorka, Mr. Selim, Mr. Gersten and others, are 

public (and DHS has, without objection from CREW, redacted the names of lower level 

employees), but without even a threat of incident.  As Secretaries Johnson and Kelly have made 

plain, successive administrations and known officials within them oppose violent extremism and 

take steps to counter it.  Mr. Holzer does not explain how these documents, over three years old, 

are so explosive as to spark reasonable fear of harm.     

As this court has explained, “[t]o satisfy the ‘foreseeable harm’ standard, [the agency] 

must explain how a particular Exemption 5 withholding would harm the agency’s deliberative 

process.” Rosenberg v. U.S. Dep’t of Defense, 342 F. Supp. 3d 62, 78 (D.D.C. 2018). The agency 

need not do this category by category, but if it does, “it must explain the foreseeable harm of 

disclosure for each category.”  Id.  Here, Mr. Holzer lists several categories of records withheld 

on deliberative process grounds: draft statements about the CVE grant program, a draft public 

affairs statement, proposals on how to respond to an attack, proposals for agendas, proposed 

issues for future discussion, and non-final proposals for other policy positions.  Holzer Decl. ¶ 

23.  He notes that sometimes the agency reached a final decision and sometimes it did not. 

As this long list proceeds, it becomes less and less specific until it becomes impossible to 

figure out what the issue is upon which DHS was deliberating.  In any event, it is not enough to 

generally say that all of these records, involving this broad range of issues, would cause 

foreseeable harm if released.  DHS must explain the harm of disclosure of each category.  

Rosenberg, 342 F. Supp. at 78; see also Judicial Watch III, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 163473, 2019 
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WL 4644029, at *4-5 (agency cannot offer “generic and nebulous articulations of harm”). 

  For that to be reviewable by the court, the category needs to be specifically described.  

“Proposals for agendas” and “proposals for other agency policy positions” will not do.  Nor will 

boilerplate assertions of harm.  That harm must be linked to “specific information in the withheld 

materials.” Danik v. United States DOJ, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 94788, at *13-14 (D.D.C. May 

31, 2020).  DHS’s explanation fails to establish foreseeable harm from disclosing the documents. 

Summary judgment must be denied.   

III. DHS Improperly Withheld Portions of Responsive Records as “Non-Responsive”. 

DHS improperly redacted material it deemed as non-responsive from responsive records. 

“FOIA calls for disclosure of . . . responsive record[s], not disclosure of responsive information 

within . . . record[s].” Am. Immigration Lawyers Ass'n (AILA) v. Exec. Office for Immigration 

Review, 830 F.3d 667, 677 (D.C. Cir. 2016); see e.g., DHS Rec. 266-268 (redacting a portion of 

a responsive email from Georgia Selim, which is a singular record, as a “non-responsive 

record”); DHS Rec. 95 (redacting a portion of a responsive email entitled “GCTF: Silence 

Procedure - Zurich-London Recommendations on Preventing and Countering Violent Extremism 

and Terrorism Online” as a “non-responsive record”). Thus, AILA requires agencies to disclose 

non-responsive material within responsive records. 830 F.3d at 677. 

Similarly, in Institute for Policy Studies v. CIA, the Court rejected the practice of dividing 

single documents (intelligence briefings) and redacting portions of the documents as non-

responsive. 2019 WL 3459073, at *1-2 (D.D.C. July 31, 2019). In the view of the Court, dividing 

the “briefing summaries into discrete paragraphs and sentences …disregard[ed] their original 

form and function.” Id. at *2. DHS’s improper redactions of material as non-responsive from 

responsive records defies the holding in AILA and Institute for Policy Studies requiring agencies 
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to disclose responsive records. Based on the purposes and language of FOIA and the 

interpretation of the court, dividing individual emails and email chains as separate records and 

redacting portions as “non-responsive” is incorrect and has resulted in portions of records being 

improperly withheld.  

IV. DHS Improperly Redacted the Names of High-Level Government Employees. 

DHS argues that it invoked Exemption 6 to withhold the names and contact information 

of low-level employees and contact information for public figures, senior leaders or political 

appointees.  Def.’s Mem. at 16 (citing Holzer Decl. ¶¶ 30, 33).  For purposes here, CREW does 

not quarrel with that general proposition.  The problem is that DHS did not adhere to it.  There 

are a number of occasions in which DHS appears to have redacted the names of higher-level 

government employees.  Gutman Decl. ¶ 11, Table 6.   

These include:   

Unknown title, Office of the Secretary, DHS Rec. 193, 561, 634, 648 

Counselor, Office of the Secretary, DHS Rec. 49, 171, 218, 227, 259 

Press Secretary (Acting), DHS Rec. 185 

Office of the Executive Secretary, DHS Rec. 193.   

 The Court should order these names to be released. 

CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, DHS’ motion for summary judgment should be denied. 

 

Dated:  August 28, 2020  Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
     /s/_Jeffrey S. Gutman___________________ 

Jeffrey S. Gutman 
George Washington University Law School 
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Public Justice Advocacy Clinic 
2000 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20052 
Phone: (202) 994-5797 
Fax: (202) 994-4693 
Email: jgutman@law.gwu.edu 

     Counsel for Plaintiff 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 
CITIZENS FOR RESPONSIBILITY AND  ) 
ETHICS IN WASHINGTON,   ) 
       ) 
  Plaintiff,    ) 
       ) 
 v.      ) Case No. 1:19-cv-3544 (APM) 
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF   ) 
HOMELAND SECURITY,    ) 
       ) 
  Defendant.    ) 
 

PLAINTIFF’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT’S  
STATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS NOT IN DISPUTE  

 
1. CREW’s FOIA request was dated August 18, 2017.  Otherwise, the Statement accurately 

states the content of that request. 

2. This is a summary of portions of the Holzer Declaration.  A full statement is contained in 

his Declaration. 

3. This is a correct statement of the disclosures made. 

4. This is statement of law, not of fact. 

Dated:  August 28, 2020  Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
     /s/_Jeffrey S. Gutman___________________ 

Jeffrey S. Gutman 
George Washington University Law School 
Public Justice Advocacy Clinic 
2000 G Street, N.W. 
Washington D.C. 20052 
Phone: (202) 994-5797 
Fax: (202) 994-4693 
Email: jgutman@law.gwu.edu 

     Counsel for Plaintiff 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 
CITIZENS FOR RESPONSIBILITY AND  ) 
ETHICS IN WASHINGTON,   ) 
       ) 
  Plaintiff,    ) 
       ) 
 v.      ) Case No. 1:19-cv-3544 (APM) 
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF   ) 
HOMELAND SECURITY,    ) 
       ) 
  Defendant.    ) 
 

[PROPOSED] ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT’S MOTION  
FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

 
 Upon consideration of Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment, the memorandum of 

points and authorities in support thereof, the opposition thereto, any reply, and the entire record 

herein, it is on this ____day of _____________________, 2020, 

ORDERED that Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment be, and hereby is, 

DENIED. 

 

 

       ____________________________________ 
Hon. Amit P. Mehta 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 
 

Copies to: 
Counsel of Record via ECF 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
  

 I hereby certify that I served the foregoing Opposition to Defendant’s Motion for 

Summary Judgment, Response to Defendant’s Statement of Material Facts Not in Dispute, 

Declaration of Jeffrey S. Gutman and accompanying Exhibits to all counsel of record via the 

ECF filing system on this, the 28th day of August, 2020. 

 

       __________/s/ Jeffrey S. Gutman__ 
Jeffrey S. Gutman 
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